

## **ABOUT C4ADS**

C4ADS (www.c4ads.org) is a 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization dedicated to data-driven analysis and evidence-based reporting of conflict and security issues worldwide. Our approach leverages nontraditional investigative techniques and emerging analytical technologies. We recognize the value of working on the ground in the field, capturing local knowledge, and collecting original data to inform our analysis. At the same time, we employ cutting edge technology to manage and analyze that data. The result is an innovative analytical approach to conflict prevention and mitigation.

© C4ADS March 2021

## **ABOUT THE AUTHOR**

Henry Peyronnin is an Analyst at C4ADS on the Natural Resources Cell, where he specializes in extractive industry and supply chain transparency. He holds a B.A. in Environmental Studies from Carleton College and an M.A. in International Affairs from The Fletcher School.

## LEGAL DISCLAIMER

The mention of any individual, company, organization, or other entity in this report does not imply the violation of any law or international agreement, and should not be construed to so imply.

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

C4ADS would like to thank all those who provided data, insights, and guidance during this project. Finally, the author would like to thank his fellow team members, Thomas Ewing, Mary Utermohlen, and Anna Wheeler, without whom this report would not have been possible.

C4ADS would also like to thank its technology partners:







# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

US lawmakers and public officials recognize the trade in illicit gold as a pressing environmental and social problem, but no comprehensive regulatory framework exists under which to stop the flow of illicit gold to the United States. The challenge of tracing gold supply chains is complicated by four key factors: gold's physical and commercial characteristics; the growing sophistication of illicit gold trading networks; corruption in source, transit, and destination countries; and the fragmentation of the global gold market. Although two laws partially address this regulatory gap in the United States, neither provides a strong set of rules that apply equally to public companies and private entities. This brief draws on C4ADS analysis of the illicit gold trade to identify obstacles facing regulators and companies as they seek to achieve compliance with conflict minerals regulations, highlight the limitations of existing US laws pertaining to illegal gold and other minerals, and explore several potential areas in which these regulations can be strengthened or extended.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	3
INTRODUCTION	
OBSTACLES TO REGULATING ILLICIT GOLD	
GOLD'S PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS	
GROWING SOPHISTICATION OF ILLICIT GOLD TRADE	
FRAGMENTATION OF GLOBAL GOLD MARKET	
SEC CONFLICT MINERALS RULE	9
SEC RULE LIMITATIONS	
BANK SECRECY ACT	12
BUILDING INVESTIGATIONS AROUND BSA VIOLATIONS	12
CONCLUSION	13
FND NOTES	15

# INTRODUCTION

The illicit trade in gold and other minerals, like the illicit trade in wildlife, fish, and plants, is recognized by US lawmakers as a pressing environmental and social problem.\(^1\) Unlike plants, fish, and wildlife, however, the United States has no legislation prohibiting the import of illicit gold, which means that gold extracted or transported illegally in foreign jurisdictions is legal to trade and own within the United States. Without a law on illegal gold to enforce, how can the US government prevent illegally mined gold from being traded within its own borders?

Several obstacles impede action on illicit gold. First, gold's unique physical and commercial characteristics make it nearly impossible to trace its origin, and to monitor its chain of custody. Second, miners and gold traders develop methods to undermine or exploit rules on illegal gold mining, gold smuggling, and money laundering. Third, systemic corruption facilitates the illegal extraction and smuggling of gold, creating an environment in which rules are easily circumvented through bribery and fraud. Fourth, the emergence of new refineries, trading hubs, and transit jurisdictions in recent decades has created an increasingly fragmented patchwork of gold regulations around the world, making coordinated action difficult.

Two existing laws partially address the regulatory gap in the United States. The Dodd-Frank Act of 2010 requires that publicly traded companies monitor and report on tin, tantalum, tungsten, and gold sourced from the Democratic Republic of the Congo and adjoining countries. The Bank Secrecy Act of 1970 requires that precious metals dealers maintain anti-money laundering protocols, and report suspicious activity to the US government. Neither law, however, provides a comprehensive set of rules that apply equally to public companies and private entities that import gold into the United States.

The flow of illicit gold to the United States and other destination countries imposes negative effects on source countries, where the quest for gold often leaves behind deforestation, mercury pollution, and other forms of environmental degradation. By fueling conflict and providing revenue to transnational criminal networks, the illicit gold trade also undermines the national security interests of the United States and other destination countries.

This brief draws on C4ADS analysis of the illicit gold trade to identify obstacles facing regulators and companies as they seek to achieve compliance with conflict minerals regulations, highlight the limitations of existing US laws pertaining to illegal gold and other minerals, and explore several potential areas in which they can be strengthened or extended.

# OBSTACLES TO REGULATING ILLICIT GOLD

Companies face a number of obstacles in the design and implementation of robust due diligence practices, including gold's unique physical and commercial characteristics, the growing sophistication of the illicit gold trade, systemic corruption, and an increasingly fragmented global market for gold.

## **Gold's Physical Characteristics**

Gold's physical characteristics make it difficult to track. After being mined from the earth as ore, gold is typically refined at least twice along its chain of custody. This allows for gold from disparate sources to be melted down and combined, making the task of tracing gold to its point of origin all but impossible. Unlike many other internationally-traded commodities such as timber, oil, grains, and coal, gold is also highly compact, which means it can be easily shipped or smuggled across borders overland and, critically, by air.

Although overland smuggling routes play a critical role in the illicit gold trade, most international shipping of gold is done by air. While other commodities often arrive at US borders by maritime shipping routes, gold shipped to the United States typically arrives by air cargo. This method of transport makes gold imports to the US more difficult to track using commercial trade data than maritime imports. According to the US government, Section 431 of the Smoot-Hawley Tariff Act of 1930, which requires all vessels arriving in the United States to maintain a manifest recording information about the preceding voyage and cargo carried during the journey, applies only to maritime vessels. On this basis, which was upheld in a recent court ruling, US Customs and Border Patrol denies access to air cargo manifest data to all commercial trade data providers.<sup>2</sup> For investigative organizations such as C4ADS that rely on publicly available information to investigate illicit trade, this reporting loophole represents a significant obstacle to tracing supply chains into the United States (Box 1).

#### Box 1: Illegal Mining in Costa Rica

In August 2020, 27 people suspected of participating in a gold smuggling ring were detained by Costa Rican authorities. The range of alleged participants in the illegal enterprise included miners, testaferros ("front men"), accountants, and business owners who facilitated the gold's sale and transport. Among those arrested was a tax official who allegedly advised the group on how to launder the proceeds of its gold sales.<sup>3</sup>

Between 2018 and 2020, the group reportedly carried out illegal mining operations in the areas of Crucitas, Abangares, and Corcovado National Park. The gold, disguised as scrap metal, was exported to the United States through the Juan Santamaría International Airport, or smuggled into Nicaragua for export, according to authorities.<sup>4</sup> According to Costa Rican authorities, the group exported approximately 2,500 kilograms of gold worth \$60 million to the United States between April 2018 and August 2020.<sup>5</sup> Authorities alleged that the gold was exported by air to consignees in Houston, Texas; Miami, Florida; and Los Angeles, California.<sup>6</sup>

Commercially available export data from Costa Rica accessed by C4ADS corroborated the authorities' allegations. Because US import records for the shipments were not reported, however, C4ADS could not identify the exporters' counterparties in the United States.

## **Gold's Commercial Characteristics**

The task of tracking gold imports into the United States is further complicated by gold's unique commercial characteristics. Gold's wide range of commercial applications—as jewelry, a form of payment, a store of wealth, and a raw material in various consumer products—means that it can be classified by customs authorities as a commodity or currency. Although airline passengers must declare currency or monetary instruments such as gold coins valued over \$10,000, non-monetized gold, often in the form of semi-pure doré bars, is not considered a form of currency and is thus exempt from any reporting requirements. As a State Department official noted in a 2019 Senate hearing, it is therefore "legal for a passenger to fly into the United States with, for example, 50 pounds of gold bullion, worth \$1 million at today's prices, without providing the same customs declaration information required when traveling with \$1 million in cash."

Once an airline passenger has successfully brought gold into the United States, that gold can be quickly converted to cash. A common method used by passengers is to sell the gold to private gold traders, who then wire the equivalent sum in dollars to a designated recipient. Since gold is often classified as a commodity rather than currency, the reporting requirements for such transfers are minimal. Gold traders are only required to report wire transfers of \$10,000 and above, and are not obligated under any circumstances to report on the nature of exchange. By itself, a wire transfer does not indicate any underlying illicit activity, which means that wire transfer reports by themselves are not enough to track gold-for-cash exchanges.

## **Growing Sophistication of Illicit Gold Trade**

Illicit miners and gold traders have developed complex schemes to circumvent or exploit mining regulations. These schemes often involve "front" people and companies employed to mask the origin and ownership of minerals. Miners who do not hold formal mining titles, for example, may strike informal arrangements to exploit the claims of registered title holders. Unregistered traders may use a third party, typically another miner who is authorized to mine or trade gold, to sell to refiners. Exporters may rotate shipments among a series of short-lived shell companies, confounding efforts by regulators and downstream users to identify shipments' beneficial ownership and true origins (Box 2).

#### Box 2. Obfuscation Schemes in Peru

In February 2020, a law enforcement operation involving 47 prosecutors and 1,000 police officers across five regions in Peru arrested 18 members of a criminal network allegedly dedicated to illegal gold mining and smuggling.<sup>11</sup> Officers seized documents, weapons, explosives, chemical agents, and gold from the group worth approximately \$10 million.<sup>12</sup>

According to Peruvian authorities, members of the group, which included several Chinese nationals in addition to Peruvians, mined gold from nine concealed tunnels that had been dug into hillsides in the region of La Libertad.<sup>13</sup> The illegally mined gold was then laundered using fraudulent paperwork and transported to warehouses in the Port of Callao, where it was shipped to buyers in the United Arab Emirates (UAE), China, and Switzerland, among other countries.<sup>14</sup> The criminal group obfuscated its activities by exploiting a formalization system for artisanal miners in Peru called the Integral Registry of Mining Formalization (REINFO). The group used registration details of four artisanal miners on the formalization list to transport and legitimize its illegally mined gold.<sup>15</sup>

Peru's formalization process, designed to facilitate the transition of artisanal miners from informal to formal operations, has also been exploited in other ways by illicit mining networks. The process requires miners to submit "declarations of commitment" in which they pledge to bring their activities in line with the government's environmental standards. The policy was intended for miners who were already operating prior to the creation of the formalization process. In some instances, however, miners have entered new areas, begun to mine, and then submitted declarations to formalize their activities. As a result, the policy appears to have provided an impetus for new illegal mining in some areas. <sup>16</sup>

At multiple points of the supply chain, transnational criminal networks exploit illicit gold as a vehicle to launder money from other illicit activities, such as drug trafficking. Drug trafficking organizations may use drug revenues to fund mining and gold trading companies, selling to international refineries through shell companies. When gold is not laundered through shell companies, it is often smuggled. Smugglers have devised a range of methods to avoid detection, often relying on airline passengers to move the gold in small quantities. In 2019, for example, Colombian authorities dismantled a gold smuggling operation in which human couriers transported small quantities of gold disguised as accessories to jewelers in a Panamanian free trade zone, who paid the couriers in finished jewelry to be smuggled back into Colombia. The complexity and opacity of gold supply chains offer transnational criminal networks ample opportunity for both money laundering and direct profit.

## **Systemic Corruption**

Corruption and institutional weaknesses can undermine efforts to enforce minerals regulations, leaving rules and protocols that exist on paper but not in practice. Although gold exporters are typically required to provide documentation describing their gold's origin, exporters can falsify documents or obtain authorization from corrupt officials with little concern that they will be penalized.<sup>19</sup> Closer to the gold's point of origin, miners may rely on corrupt or sympathetic local officials to expedite bureaucratic processes,<sup>20</sup> grant mining titles without environmental assessments,<sup>21</sup> or provide tip-offs on impending law enforcement action.<sup>22</sup>

Artisanal and small-scale mining typically occurs in remote areas where formal rules and procedures are not systematically enforced. Such conditions often give rise to alternative rules and practices, or "informal institutions," that structure incentives in ways that compete with those provided by formal institutions.<sup>23</sup> In some cases, the informal institutions that facilitate illicit gold mining also co-opt elements of the state through political influence or public corruption. These murky institutional boundaries encourage practices which may be prohibited by state law but are nonetheless viewed as legitimate by local actors. In the mining hub of Madre de Dios, Peru, for example, scholar Gerardo Damonte has argued that formal and informal institutions are so intermingled that they have merged into a kind of hybridized continuum in which actors "choose a course of action by combining normative and customary, moral, or traditional practices."<sup>24</sup>

## Fragmentation of Global Gold Market

The global gold market has become increasingly fragmented, with complex supply chains spanning multiple jurisdictions. Countries such as China, the UAE, and Turkey have grown from relatively minor gold importers into major gold trading centers,<sup>25</sup> and a growing number of local refineries and processors have emerged in countries closer to the point of extraction.<sup>26</sup> Free

trade zones in both origin and destination countries, which often impose minimal regulatory scrutiny on gold traders, add yet another layer of opacity to global gold supply chains.

Although importers in jurisdictions such as Switzerland and the United States have come under pressure to stop sourcing gold from high-risk areas, many continue to source gold from intermediary jurisdictions with fewer regulatory scruples, such as the UAE.<sup>27</sup> The London Bullion Market Association, the world's largest gold industry accrediting authority, found that the refiners it certifies, mostly in Switzerland, imported 212 tons of gold valued at \$13 billion from the UAE in 2018 alone.<sup>28</sup> Similarly, although the United States sanctioned Venezuela's gold industry in 2019, C4ADS analysis has found that US importers receive millions of dollars of gold from countries alleged to serve as transit jurisdictions for Venezuelan gold.

Intermediary jurisdictions in gold supply chains also include special economic zones in source, transit, and destination countries. A growing share of the global gold trade is routed through free trade zones, which facilitate trade flows subject to minimal taxation and regulatory oversight. This trend has been most clearly documented in major import centers such as Dubai, <sup>29</sup> but is also true in countries closer to common source regions.<sup>31</sup> In Curaçao, which allegedly serves as a key transit point for Venezuelan gold exports, at least two refineries registered in free trade zones have allegedly exported Venezuelan gold to the United States, the Netherlands, the UAE, and Switzerland.<sup>32</sup> <sup>33</sup> C4ADS analysis also indicates that since 2015, small-scale and artisanal miners in Colombia increasingly sell gold to refineries located in free trade zones within the country's borders, which export mainly to the US.

# SEC CONFLICT MINERALS RULE

In 2012, the US Securities and Exchange Commission adopted Section 1502 of the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Act, which requires publicly traded companies to publicly disclose their use of conflict minerals originating in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC) or adjoining countries.<sup>34</sup> The SEC rule applies to companies for which the use of tantalum, tin, tungsten, or gold (often referred to collectively as 3TG) is "necessary to the functionality or production of a product."<sup>35</sup> The SEC's reporting requirements aim to curb violent conflict and human rights abuses in the DRC by bringing greater public awareness to the source of minerals and promoting more rigorous due diligence of conflict minerals supply chains.<sup>36</sup>

The SEC reporting rule entails a three-step process for conflict minerals disclosure. First, the company (referred to as the "issuer") must determine whether conflict minerals are "necessary to the functionality or production of a product manufactured or contracted by that issuer to be manufactured."<sup>37</sup> If the company meets this definition, the company proceeds to the second step, which is to "conduct a reasonable country of origin inquiry regarding the origin of its conflict minerals."<sup>38</sup> If the company determines that its conflict minerals originated in the DRC or an adjoining country, it must exercise due diligence on the source and chain of custody of its conflict minerals, and include a Conflict Minerals Report as an exhibit to its specialized disclosure report.<sup>39</sup>

## **SEC Rule Limitations**

The SEC rule is limited by two key factors: weak enforcement and loopholes in the reporting process. It is further limited by its exclusive focus on publicly-listed companies, and the narrow range of countries on which companies are required to report (see "Going Beyond the SEC Rule" below).

In 2014, the US Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia ruled that the SEC's conflict minerals disclosure requirements "created unconstitutional compelled commercial speech, violating the First Amendment." In April 2017, three years after the ruling, the SEC announced it would suspend enforcement of its conflict minerals disclosure requirements. In spite of these developments, many companies continue to monitor and report on conflict minerals in their supply chains: in 2019, a total of 1,078 companies filed Section 1502 special disclosures with the SEC.

Although many companies continue to follow the SEC's three-step reporting process, the overall quality of reporting appears to have declined. Audits of companies' reporting practices in 2018 and 2019 by the Responsible Sourcing Network, a non-profit, found that average due diligence practices "fall short from the intent of the law and the expectations of stakeholders" and that average due diligence reporting standards have worsened since 2017, 44 when the SEC stopped enforcing the law.

The decline in reporting quality may also stem from ambiguities embedded in the second step of the reporting process. Step 2 requires that issuers "conduct a reasonable country of origin

inquiry regarding the origin of its conflict minerals," but does not specify what a "reasonable" inquiry involves. As the SEC notes, "the final rule does not prescribe the actions for a reasonable country of origin inquiry that are required, as the required inquiry depends on each issuer's facts and circumstances." According to the SEC, this flexibility was intended to reduce the cost of compliance for smaller companies, which may lack the resources to conduct rigorous due diligence analysis. However, such language may also allow for lax reporting practices by companies of all sizes.

## Going Beyond the SEC Rule

The SEC rule aims to lower demand for illicit gold and other minerals by raising consumer awareness of industry sourcing practices. But the rule falls short of achieving full supply chain transparency, which weakens its intended effect on public awareness. The United States should increase supply chain transparency by updating and expanding the SEC rule to include both public and private importers, a wider range of source countries, and more rigorous reporting requirements.

Europe has already taken a step in this direction (Box 3). In May 2017, the European Union passed Regulation (EU) 2017/821 (the Conflict Minerals Regulation), which imposes supply chain due diligence obligations on EU importers of 3TG originating from all conflict-affected and high-risk areas (CAHRAs).<sup>46</sup> The regulation sets out a series of rules that importers must follow tied to companies' internal management processes, risk management, and disclosure practices. The rule, which took effect in January 2021, directly affects some 600 to 1,000 EU importers, and indirectly affects about 500 smelters and refiners inside and outside the European Union.<sup>47</sup>

#### Box 3. The EU Conflict Minerals Regulation

#### What is required of importers?

EU importers—which are defined as "any natural or legal person declaring minerals or metals for release for free circulation" will be required to report to member states information such as the type and quantity of minerals imported, source country, and the names and addresses of suppliers. For imports from CAHRAs, or other areas where supply chain risks have been detected, importers must provide additional information on the mine of origin; any locations where minerals were consolidated, traded, and processed; and all taxes, fees, and royalties paid.

#### What is a CAHRA?

The EU defines CAHRAs as areas in a state of armed conflict, fragile post-conflict areas, areas with weak or non-existent governance and security, or areas with widespread and systematic violations of international law.<sup>1</sup> The European Commission plans to maintain a regularly updated CAHRA list, which will be provided by external experts.<sup>49</sup> The list is intended to be indicative but non-exhaustive, meaning that companies will be expected to comply with the regulations in conflict-affected or high-risk areas that are not listed.<sup>50</sup>

#### How is the rule enforced?

The EU rule will rely on member states to enforce compliance with the regulation. According to the European Commission, each member state will "order the [non-compliant] firm to address the problem within a given deadline, and follow up to makes sure it does so."51 It is not clear whether failure to comply with the rule will result in any concrete penalties for firms.

Both the US and EU regulations are based to varying degrees on the OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas, which lays out a five-step process for companies to monitor and report on supply chain risks. The five steps require upstream and downstream companies to 1) establish strong company management systems, 2) identify and assess risks in their supply chain, 3) manage risks, 4) support third-party audits of smelters and refiners in their supply chains, and 5) publicly report on their due diligence efforts.

While both the US and EU regulations incorporate elements of the OECD Guidance, neither fully adheres to the five-step process. The US regulation applies only to publicly listed companies, and limits due diligence obligations to minerals sourced from a handful of origin countries. The EU regulation does not appear to explicitly require public reporting of source countries and suppliers – only that companies report to member states – and does not include strong mechanisms for enforcement. Limitations in both US and EU legislation therefore contribute to incomplete regulatory and public oversight of minerals industry practices, and leave loopholes open for bad actors to exploit.

# **BANK SECRECY ACT**

While the SEC conflict minerals rule only applies to publicly-listed companies, another set of regulations applies to precious metals dealers. Under 31 U.S.C. Section 5312, dealers in precious metals, stones, or jewels qualify as financial institutions, which means that they are required under the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970 (commonly referred to as the "Bank Secrecy Act" or BSA) to assist US government agencies to detect and prevent money laundering. Specifically, the act requires financial institutions to keep records of cash purchases of negotiable instruments; file reports of cash transactions exceeding \$10,000 (daily aggregate amount); and to report suspicious activity that might signify money laundering, tax evasion, or other criminal activities.<sup>52</sup>

The BSA was first used to prosecute money laundering charges against a precious metals dealer in 2018, when Dallas-based refinery Elemetal LLC (also known as "NTR Metals") pleaded guilty to violating the BSA by failing to maintain an adequate anti-money laundering program.<sup>53</sup> Elemetal's plea came after three of its employees were convicted of laundering \$3.6 billion in gold purchased from drug trafficking organizations in Peru, Ecuador, Bolivia, and Colombia.<sup>54</sup> According to the US Department of Justice, Elemetal failed to maintain an adequate anti-money laundering program in at least six ways,<sup>55</sup> all of which ultimately stem from a fundamental failure to practice due diligence on the company's suppliers.

## **Building Investigations Around BSA Violations**

The Elemetal case yields several insights that may offer a path forward for investigation and prosecution of US gold traders that import illegal gold. First, the case provides specific risk factors that may indicate money laundering, tax evasion, or other criminal activities. These risk factors include irregularities in sales volume records, the use by foreign gold suppliers of "rotating front companies," and the involvement of foreign gold suppliers who represent themselves as "gold collectors." Second, the case points toward sources of data that the US government has used to successfully investigate gold importers: customs declarations, sales volume records, communications records, and publicly available information. Third, the case suggests that to successfully prosecute US gold importers for BSA violations, investigators must demonstrate a pattern of failure to request or obtain adequate information as to the source and chain of custody of the gold.

# CONCLUSION

The United States and European Union have both introduced regulations to stop illicit gold, among other minerals, from entering formal markets. In the United States, the SEC rule has done little to reduce the flow of illicit gold, due in part to reporting loopholes and weak enforcement. In the European Union, ambiguities in the conflict minerals regulation mean that the penalties for non-compliance, and the degree to which due diligence results must be publicly reported, remain unclear. Although both the US and EU rules are steps in the right direction, prior evidence suggests that illicit networks will evolve and adapt to new regulations.

Recent economic uncertainty has stimulated fresh demand for gold from a range of end consumers, which some analysts say portends future trends.<sup>57</sup> Will regulatory pressure from jurisdictions like the European Union simply redirect illicit exports toward more lenient jurisdictions? Will the growing complexity of the international gold trade complicate efforts by downstream users to trace the origin of gold in their supply chains? Without uniform regulatory standards across all gold trading jurisdictions, it will be difficult to ensure that supply chains are free of conflict, human rights abuses, money laundering, and other risks.

## The United States can improve its current regulatory framework for illicit gold in at least six ways.

- Expand Dodd-Frank Section 1502 by imposing reporting requirements on private firms that
  trade gold and other precious metals, in addition to publicly listed companies, and by
  extending the geographic scope of the provision to include all conflict-affected and
  high-risk regions.
- Strengthen Dodd-Frank Section 1502 reporting requirements so that due diligence standards are uniform across all reporting companies, and coordinate with the non-profit and private sectors to create supply chain intelligence solutions in order to lower the cost of compliance for smaller companies.
- Implement a strong SEC rule to enforce Dodd-Frank Section 1504, requiring companies to disclose all project-level payments to governments.
- Centralize companies' due diligence reports in a publicly accessible database.
- Continue working with source country governments and civil society to promote anticorruption, good governance, and transparency in extractive industry; to implement formalization programs for artisanal and small-scale miners; and to create alternative pathways to economic development in areas affected by illegal mining.
- Amend Section 431 of the Smoot-Hawley Tariff Act of 1930 to explicitly require public disclosure of shipping manifests from aircraft in addition to maritime vessels.
- Add trade in illicit gold and other precious metals as a class of transaction to be considered when making Section 311 primary money laundering transactions.

Absent a more comprehensive regulatory framework, investigators can maximize impact by building cases around BSA violations – particularly by exposing high risk upstream conditions in gold supply chains, and the trade relationships that tie high-risk mines to downstream users. It is difficult to demonstrate compliance failures on the part of importers without accessing internal documents such as emails or sales records, but analysts can use information such as customs records, mining titles, and corporate registries to map out the corporate networks and business

activities of minerals suppliers. In particular, source country datasets on mining activity—which are often publicly available but unstructured and thus underutilized—can be structured, integrated, and analyzed to better understand trade volumes, chains of custody, and beneficial ownership, and to identify front companies and other mechanisms used to mask the origin and ownership of minerals. These networks can be assessed for risk by corroborating identifying information with additional data from sources such as local media reporting, law enforcement actions, or judicial records.

## **END NOTES**

- United States, Congress, Senate, Committee on Foreign Relations. *Illicit Mining: Threats to U.S. National Security and International Human Rights. U.S. Government Publishing Office*, 2019, https://www.foreign.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/12%2005%2019%20--%20Illicit%20Mining%20Threats%20to%20US%20National%20Security%20and%20International%20Human%20Rights.pdf
- US SDNY. Case No. 1:17-Cv-17-8269: Panjiva Inc. and Trade Data Services Inc. v. US CBP, US Dept of Treasury.
- Goodwin, Zachary. "Sophisticated Schemes Revealed in Costa Rica Gold Ring." *Insight Crime*, 2 Sep. 2020, https://insightcrime.org/news/brief/costa-rica-illegal-gold-bust/.
- 4 Ibid.
- Cabezas, Yaslin. "(VIDEO) Director Del OIJ: Sospechosos Sacaron Del País Kilos De Oro Valorados En \$60 Millones." *Crhoy.com Noticias 24/7*, www.crhoy.com/nacionales/video-director-del-oij-sospechosos-sacaron-del-pais-2-500-kilos-de-oro-valorados-en-60-millones/.
- Matarrita Mora, Mónica. "Banda Saca ¢35 Mil Mills. En Oro En Último Año." *Diario Extra*, 21 Aug. 2020, www.diarioextra.com/Noticia/detalle/426822/banda-saca-35-mil-mills-en-oro-en-ltimo-a-o.
- United States, Congress, Senate, Committee on Foreign Relations, p. 13.
- 8 Ibid.
- <sup>9</sup> Ibid., p. 34.
- 10 lbid, pp. 34 35.
- Sierra Prali, Yvette. "Peru uncovers organized crime network laundering illegally mined gold." Translated by Hayley Smith. Mongabay, 23 March 2020, https://news.mongabay.com/2020/03/peru-uncovers-organized-crime-network-laundering-illegally-mined-gold/.
- 12 Ibid.
- <sup>13</sup> Ibid.
- lbid.
- <sup>15</sup> Ibid.

- Luna Amancio, Nelly. "Mineros ilegales usan la ley para invader nuevos bosques." *El Comercio*, 2 Dec. 2012, www.scribd.com/doc/127861347/D-EC-02122012-El-Comercio-Paispag-18.
- Weaver, Jay et al. "How drug lords make billions smuggling gold to Miami for your jewelry and phones." *Miami Herald*, 16 Jan. 2018, https://www.miamiherald.com/news/local/community/miami-dade/article194187699.html.
- "La Ruta Ilícita De 'Los Quilates.'" Fiscalía General De La Nación, 22 Aug. 2019, www.fiscalia.gov.co/colombia/noticias/la-ruta-ilicita-de-los-quilates/.
- United States, Congress, Senate, Committee on Foreign Relations, p. 13.
- "Confirman Prisión Para Implicados En Cobro De Coimas a Mineros llegales." Agencia Andina, 3 April 2019, andina.pe/agencia/noticia-confirman-prision-para-implicados-cobrocoimas-a-mineros-ilegales-747472.aspx.
- "Víctor Zambrano: Mineros llegales En Madre De Dios Tienen Más Información y Mejor Logística Que El Estado." SPDA Actualidad Ambiental, 6 Jan. 2014, www.actualidadambiental.pe/victor-zambrano-mineros-ilegales-en-madre-de-dios-tienen-mas-informacion-y-mejor-logistica-que-el-estado/.
- Webster, Donovan. "The Devastating Costs of the Amazon Gold Rush." Smithsonian Magazine, 1 Feb. 2012, www.smithsonianmag.com/travel/the-devastating-costs-of-the-amazon-gold-rush-19365506/.
- Helmke, Gretchen, and Steven Levitsky. "Informal Institutions and Comparative Politics: A Research Agenda." *Perspectives on Politics*, vol. 2, no. 4, Dec. 2004, www.cambridge.org/core/journals/perspectives-on-politics/article/informal-institutions-and-comparative-politics-a-research-agenda/11A6AA9DCAF579F5B72DA250728AA513.
- Damonte, Gerardo Hector. "Mining Formalization at the Margins of the State: Small-Scale Miners and State Governance in the Peruvian Amazon." Development and Change, vol. 49, no. 5, 23 Apr. 2018, https://doi.org/10.1111/dech.12414.
- Blore, Shawn, and Marcena Hunter. "Dubai's Problematic Gold Trade Dubai's Role in Facilitating Corruption and Global Illicit Financial Flows." Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 7 July 2020, carnegieendowment.org/2020/07/07/dubai-s-problematic-gold-trade-pub-82184.
- Lewis, David, and Peter Hobson. "Race to Refine: the Bid to Clean up Africa's Gold Rush." *Reuters*, Thomson Reuters, 15 Jan. 2020, www.reuters.com/article/us-gold-africa-refineries-insight/race-to-refine-the-bid-to-clean-up-africas-gold-rush-idUSKBN1ZE0YG.
- See Blore, Shawn, and Marcena Hunter.

- Hobson, Peter. "Exclusive: Gold Market Authority Threatens to Blacklist UAE and Other Centres." *Reuters*, Thomson Reuters, 12 Nov. 2020, www.reuters.com/article/gold-lbma-exclusive-int/exclusive-gold-market-authority-threatens-to-blacklist-uae-and-other-centres-idUSKBN27S0MA.
- See Blore, Shawn, and Marcena Hunter.
- Lezhnev, Sasha and Megha Swamy. "Understanding Money Laundering Risks in the Conflict Gold Trade." *The Sentry*, Nov. 2020, thesentry.org/reports/conflict-gold-trade/.
- Massé, Frédéric and Juan Munevar. "Due Diligence in Colombia's Gold Supply Chain: Where does Colombian gold go?" OECD, 2018, https://www.oecd.org/corporate/Wheredoes-Colombian-Gold-Go-EN.pdf.
- Ebus, Bram. "These idyllic Caribbean islands are trading illegal Venezuelan gold. Can it be stopped?" *Miami* Herald, 23 July 2019, https://www.miamiherald.com/news/nation-world/world/americas/venezuela/article232461642.html.
- "Fuga del Oro Venezolano: 'Manos de Metal' o cómo se quema la ruta." *RunRun*.es, runrun.es/especiales/fuga-del-oro-venezolano/pista-de-aterrizaje-4.html.
- "SEC Adopts Rule for Disclosing Use of Conflict Minerals." U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, 2012, https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2012-2012-163htm.
- <sup>35</sup> Ibid.
- Final Rule: Conflict Minerals. U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, 2012, p. 8, https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2012/34-67716.pdf.
- <sup>37</sup> Ibid., pp. 20-21.
- <sup>38</sup> Ibid., p. 24.
- <sup>39</sup> Ibid., p. 27.
- Horvath, Jennifer. "Latest Updates in Conflict Minerals Law." *Lexology*, 20 Nov. 2017, www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=d27d2d5f-df96-4506-8302-4b2958cb92a4.
- Lynch, Sarah N. "SEC Halts Some Enforcement of Conflict Minerals Rule amid Review." *Reuters*, Thomson Reuters, 7 Apr. 2017, www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-sec-conflictminerals-idUSKBN1792WX?cid=12232.
- Debert, Raphael et al. Mining the Disclosures 2019: An Investor Guide to Conflict Minerals and Cobalt Reporting in Year Six. Responsible Sourcing Network, 6. Dec. 2019, https://www.sourcingnetwork.org/mining-the-disclosures-2019.

- <sup>43</sup> Ibid.
- Debert, Raphael et al. Mining the Disclosures 2018: An Investor Guide to Conflict Minerals and Cobalt Reporting in Year Five. Responsible Sourcing Network, 12 Oct. 2018, www.sourcingnetwork.org/mining-the-disclosures-2018.
- <sup>45</sup> Final Rule: Conflict Minerals. U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, p. 24.
- Regulation (EU) 2017/821 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 May 2017. European Parliament, Council of the European Union, 19 May 2017, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32017R0821
- "Conflict Minerals Regulation Explained." European Commission, 21 Dec. 2020, ec.europa.eu/trade/policy/in-focus/conflict-minerals-regulation/regulation-explained/.
- European Parliament, Council of the European Union, 2017.
- <sup>49</sup> European Commission, 2020.
- <sup>50</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>51</sup> Ibid.
- "FinCEN's Mandate from Congress." Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, https://www.fincen.gov/resources/statutes-regulations.
- "U.S. Gold Refinery Pleads Guilty to Charge of Failure to Maintain Adequate Anti-Money Laundering Program." The United States Department of Justice, 16 Mar. 2018, www.justice.gov/usao-sdfl/pr/us-gold-refinery-pleads-guilty-charge-failure-maintain-adequate-anti-money-laundering.
- Weaver, Jay. "Firm behind gold-fueled, Miami-based money-laundering racket fined \$15 million." *Miami* Herald, 16 Mar. 2018, https://www.miamiherald.com/news/local/article205503659.html
- U.S. Department of Justice, 2018.
- The DOJ describes the activity of gold collectors as "a vague business that involves nothing more specific than someone who buys gold from others without requesting or obtaining adequate, or in some instances any, information as to the source and origin of gold." See US Department of Justice, 2018.
- Dizard, John. "The Global Gold Market Is Breaking Up." *Financial Times*, 12 June 2020, www.ft.com/content/1e9fa739-2f95-4cfb-b481-0387e5f8b117.